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QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the court of appeals erred in concluding that a 5-
minute security stop, based upon probable cause, which
occurred while Plaintiff was seeking to redeem a fragrance
coupon of “negligible” value, violated the “make and enforce
contracts” provision of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and justified a
compensatory and punitive award of $1.15 million.

(1)
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LIST OF PARTIES AND AFFILIATES

In addition to the parties listed in the caption, Plaintiff
Demetria Cooper was also a party to the proceedings below.

Petitioner’s official name is not Dillard’s Department
Stores, Inc. but rather Dillard’s Inc. Pursuant to Rule 29.6 of
the Rules of this Court, Dillard’s Inc. states that it has no
parent company, and no publicly held company owns more
than 10% of the stock of Dillard’s Inc.
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IN THE

Supreme Court of the United States
No. 01-

DILLARD DEPARTMENT STORES, INC.,
Petitioner,
V.

PAULA DARLENE HAMPTON,
Respondent.

On Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
to the United States Court of Appeals
for the Tenth Circuit

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Petitioner Dillard Department Stores, Inc. (“Dillard’s™)
respectfully requests that this Court grant its petition for a
writ of certiorari to review the judgment and decision of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit.

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for the
Tenth Circuit is published at 247 F.3d 1091 (10th Cir. 2001)
and is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition (“Pet.
App.”) at 1a to 47a. The court of appeals’ denial of rehearing
and rehearing en banc is unpublished. Pet. App. 97a-98a.
The opinion of the United States District Court for the District
of Kansas granting Dillard’s partial summary judgment is
published at 985 F. Supp. 1055 (D. Kan. 1997). Pet. App.
86a-96a. The district court’s opinion denying Dillard’s
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motion for judgment as a matter of law is published at 18 F.
Supp. 2d 1256 (D. Kan. 1998). Pet. App. 48a-85a.

JURISDICTION

The court of appeals entered its decision on April 24, 2001.
A timely petition for rehearing and rehearing en banc was
denied on September 4, 2001. This Court has jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1).

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Title 42, Section 1981 provides:

(a) Statement of equal rights. All persons within the
jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same
right in every State and Territory to make and enforce
contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, and to full
and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the
security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white
citizens, and shall be subject to like punishment, pains,
penalties, taxes, licenses, and exactions of every kind,
and to no other.

(b) “Make and enforce contracts” defined. For purposes
of this section, the term “make and enforce contracts”
includes the making, performance, modification, and
termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all
benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the
contractual relationship.

(c) Protection against impairment. The rights protected
by this section are protected against impairment by
nongovernmental discrimination and impairment under
color of State law.

42 U.S.C. § 1981.



3
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a $1.15 million verdict against Dillard’s
arising from a brief investigative stop of an African-American
customer by a Dillard’s security guard. The stop was
supported by probable cause, lasted no more than five
minutes and was limited to comparing the contents of the
Dillard’s shopping bag that Plaintiff was carrying against the
items on her store receipt. More to the point, the investigative
stop did not prevent Plaintiff from completing her transaction
with Dillard’s, which she unilaterally abandoned because it
“‘wasn’t a concern to her.”” Pet. App. 90a.

The court of appeals, however, concluded that Dillard’s
could be held liable for compensatory and punitive damages
under the “make and enforce contracts” provision of 42
U.S.C. § 1981 (“Section 1981). This remarkable holding
derived from the seemingly inconsequential fact that the
investigative stop occurred while Plaintiff was redeeming a
fragrance coupon of nominal value. The panel majority
acknowledged that if the stop had occurred only moments
later, after Plaintiff had redeemed a fragrance sample, then
there could be no liability under Section 1981. The panel
concluded, however, that the brief delay occasioned by the
investigative stop, the timing of which it characterized as
“purely fortuitous,” was legally sufficient to support liability
under Section 1981.

The court of appeals’ decision presents, in stark relief, an
important issue regarding the proper scope of the “make and
enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981 upon which the
federal courts of appeals have adopted conflicting legal
standards. In the Seventh, Fifth and Eighth Circuits, Plaintiff
could not have prevailed because those courts have explained
that the right to “make and enforce contracts” is violated only
if the alleged conduct results in the “actual loss of a contract
interest.” Here, Plaintiff suffered no loss of any contractual
interest. After the stop, Plaintiff had precisely the same



4

contractual right to redeem her fragrance coupon as she did
before the stop. Her efforts to redeem the coupon, at most,
were delayed for the duration of this brief stop.

In contrast, and in addition to the decision below, the Third
and Sixth Circuits have adopted a more expansive view of the
“make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981 that
permits recovery even where, as here, a plaintiff has not been
denied service, denied admittance or required to leave the
store. The decision below thus squarely presents a mature
conflict regarding the recurring issue of the proper legal
bounds of the “make and enforce contracts” provision of
Section 1981.

The Court should grant certiorari to resolve this decisional
conflict.

A. Statutory Background.

Title 42, Section 1981 is a civil rights statute whose
continuing evolution this Court has traced “on more than one
occasion.” General Bldg. Contractors Ass 'n v. Pennsylvania,
458 U.S. 375, 384 (1982). Section 1981 originated in § 1 of
the Civil Rights Act of 1866, ch. 31, 14 Stat. 27, which was
enacted by Congress shortly after ratification of the
Thirteenth Amendment. General Bldg. Contractors, 458 U.S.
at 384. Following ratification of the Fourteenth Amendment,
Congress passed the Enforcement Act of 1870, ch. 114, 16
Stat. 140, which, at § 16, contained essentially the same
language currently reflected in Section 1981(a). 458 U.S. at
385. That provision provides that “[a]ll persons within the
jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right in
every State . . . to make and enforce contracts . . . as is
enjoyed by white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. § 1981(a).

This Court repeatedly has been called upon to resolve
disputes regarding the legal scope of Section 1981, and this
case presents the next logical step in the sequence. Initially,
more than 100 years ago, this Court explained that the rights
protected by Section 1981 were intended solely “to counteract
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and furnish redress against State laws and proceedings, and
customs having the force of law, which sanction the wrongful
acts specified.” The Civil Rights Cases, 109 U.S. 3, 16
(1883). Under this early view, Section 1981 could not “be
impaired by the wrongful acts of individuals, unsupported by
State authority.” Id. at 17. Subsequently, the Court reversed
course, concluding that Section 1981 “prohibits racial
discrimination in the making and enforcement of private
contracts.” Runyon v. McCrary, 427 U.S. 160, 168 (1976)
(emphasis added).

The Court, however, also has made clear that the scope of
Section 1981 is not wholly unbounded and is subject to
important legal limits. Thus, the Court has explained that
Section 1981 is not violated by conduct that has a dispropor-
tionate impact on a particular group but “only by purposeful
discrimination.” General Bldg. Contractors, 458 U.S. at 391.
Similarly, in Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S.
164 (1989), the Court ruled that Section 1981 was not “a
general proscription of racial discrimination in all aspects of
contract relations,” but instead “prohibit[ed] discrimination
only in the making and enforcement of contracts.” Id. at 176.

Against this background, and, in particular, in light of the
Court’s decision in Patterson, Congress amended Section
1981 through enactment of the Civil Rights Act of 1991.
Pub. L. No. 102-166, 105 Stat. 1071. Congress redesignated
the pre-existing language of Section 1981 as subsection (a),
and added subsections (b) and (c). Subsection (b) defines
“make and enforce contracts” to include ‘“the making,
performance, modification, and termination of contracts, and
the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and
conditions of the contractual relationship.” Id. § 101, 105
Stat. at 1072. Subsection (c), in turn, provides that the “rights
protected by [Section 1981] are protected against impairment
by nongovernmental discrimination.” [Id. This Court has
explained that the 1991 amendments establish a “new
standard of conduct” for claims under Section 1981. Rivers v.
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Roadway Express, Inc., 511 U.S. 298, 304 (1994). The
Rivers Court, however, had no occasion to determine the
outer bounds of Section 1981 because it held that the 1991
Amendments applied prospectively only. Id.

This case presents the recurring issue of the proper scope of
this “new standard of conduct” under Section 1981 with
respect to the relationship between a retail business and its
customers.

B. District Court Proceedings.

1. This cases arises from a shopping trip involving
Plaintiff Paula Darlene Hampton (“Plaintiff” or “Hampton’)
and her niece Demetria Cooper, both of whom are African-
American. On April 5, 1996, Hampton and Cooper, together
with four children, were shopping at the children’s
department at a Dillard’s store in Overland Park, Kansas. Pet.
App. 3a. Hampton had shopped at Dillard’s numerous times
without incident. Id. at 47a. On this occasion, however, a
plain-clothed Dillard’s security guard, Tom Wilson, observed
that Cooper appeared to be looking around “as if to check to
see if she was being watched” and noticed that she had a
rolled-up cloth item in her hand. Id. at 4a. Wilson asked
another employee, Pam Fitzgerel, to monitor Hampton and
Cooper while they were trying clothes on Cooper’s infant son.
Id. Fitzgerel saw that Cooper had a rolled-up cloth item
under her jacket and reported this to Wilson, stating she was
“positive” of what she had seen. Id.

Hampton left the fitting room and purchased clothing for
Cooper’s son. Pet. App. 4a. The cashier gave both Hampton
and Cooper coupons for men’s cologne samples redeemable
at no cost at the fragrance counter. Id.; see also id. at 89a.
Hampton and Cooper proceeded to the fragrance counter,
which was located at the exit where the Dillard’s store opens
into a shopping mall. /d. at 4a.

Wilson approached the group and told Hampton that
Cooper had been “observed placing something in her coat.”
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Pet. App. 4a. Wilson asked to look inside the Dillard’s
shopping bag that Hampton was carrying, he checked the
items in the shopping bag against her receipt, and determined
that the items matched. /d. at 4a-5a. As the district court
explained, Wilson never touched Hampton, never used any
racial epithets or made any derogatory remarks to or about her
or Cooper. Id. at 89a. Nevertheless, during the encounter,
Hampton became upset and said that she did not appreciate
being accused of shoplifting. Id. at 5a. Hampton asked for
Wilson’s name and the location of the customer service
counter. Id. She then proceeded directly to the customer
service counter. The entire encounter between Wilson and
Hampton lasted no more than five minutes. /d.

2. After the incident, Hampton and Cooper filed suit,
alleging violations of Section 1981 and a tort claim for false
imprisonment under Kansas law. The district court granted,
in part, Dillard’s motion for summary judgment, rejecting
Plaintiffs’ argument that “freedom from racially discrimina-
tory security practices is a benefit or privilege of a merchant’s
implied contractual offer to let them shop in its store.” Pet.
App. 92a. The court reasoned that Plaintiffs’ theory, if
accepted, “‘would come close to nullifying the contract
requirement of section 1981 altogether, thereby transforming
the statute into a general cause of action for race discrimina-
tion in all contexts.”” Id. (quoting Lewis v. J.C. Penney Co.,
948 F. Supp. 367, 371-72 (D. Del. 1996)).

As to the state law count, the court concluded that Wilson
had probable cause to detain the women and did so in a
reasonable manner. Pet. App. 95a-96a." The court explained

" The court thus held that Dillard’s was entitled to summary judgment
on this claim under the statutory defense for merchants contained in
Kansas Statutes Annotated Section 21-3424, which provides:

Any merchant, or merchant’s agent or employee, who has probable
cause to believe that a person has actual possession of and has
wrongfully taken, or is about to wrongfully take merchandise from a
mercantile establishment, may detain such person on the premises or
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that on the issue of probable cause there was no evidence that
“seriously calls into question either Wilson’s credibility or
that of Fitzgerel—who independently observed Cooper in the
fitting room.” Id. at 96a.

The district court, however, allowed Hampton’s Section
1981 claim to go forward because Hampton had received a
coupon for a fragrance sample at the time of her purchase and
was approached by the security guard while she was
attempting to redeem the coupon. Pet. App. 93a-94a. At
trial, the jury determined that the fragrance sample was a
“benefit” of the contractual relationship between Hampton
and Dillard’s and that Dillard’s had interfered with her
redemption of the coupon based upon the encounter between
Wilson and Hampton. Thereafter, the jury was asked whether
Hampton’s race was a “motivating factor in defendant’s
conduct,” that is, whether “defendant acted, at least in part,
because of plaintiff’s race.” Id. at 25a. “[D]efendant’s
conduct,” in turn, was described as “defendant’s surveillance,
detention and search of [Hampton’s] belongings.” Id. at 24a,
25a.

The undisputed evidence at trial reflected that Hampton
was never required to leave the store, was never denied
service and was not prevented from redeeming her fragrance
coupon. Pet. App. S5a, 89a. Indeed, after the encounter with
Wilson, Hampton returned to get the name and telephone
number of the employee working at the fragrance counter, but
did not attempt to redeem the fragrance coupon because “‘it
wasn’t a concern to her.”” Id. at 90a. That was not surprising
because “the value of the free cologne sample was
negligible.” Id. at 81a.

in the immediate vicinity thereof, in a reasonable manner and for a
reasonable period of time for the purpose of investigating the
circumstances of such possession.

Kan. Stat. Ann. § 21-3424(c).
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Nevertheless, the jury returned a verdict of $56,000 in
compensatory damages and $1.1 million in punitive damages.
On Dillard’s motion for a new trial, the district court
concluded that the compensatory award was justified not by
the loss of the coupon but by the emotional injury of being
falsely accused of shoplifting. Similarly, the district court
sustained the punitive award, reasoning that the case did not
involve “mere economic damages” but “personal injury and
emotional damages.” Pet. App. 85a.

C. The Court Of Appeals’ Decision.

A divided panel of the Tenth Circuit affirmed, with Senior
Judge Anderson dissenting. The court ruled that there was
sufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that Dillard’s
violated the “make and enforce contracts” provision of
Section 1981 based upon Wilson’s security stop, which
occurred while Hampton was seeking to redeem her fragrance
sample. Pet. App. 16a. The panel majority agreed with the
dissent that the timing of Wilson’s interruption of Hampton as
she was redeeming the fragrance coupon was “‘purely
fortuitous.”” Id. at 16a n.3. This was because “Wilson’s
testimony d[id] not suggest he had the subjective intent to
prevent the redemption of the coupon.” Id. at 16a & n.3.
According to the panel majority, however, “Wilson’s
inopportune timing neither alters the resulting interruption of
an ongoing transaction nor defeats this § 1981 action.” Id. at
16a n.3. To support this conclusion, the court responded that
“§ 1981 protects enjoyment of the benefits of a contract from
any impairment.” Id. at 16a-17a. The majority ruled that
subjective intent to interfere with the making or enforcement
of a contract was not required to establish a Section 1981
violation. Id. Rather, the court interpreted Section 1981 to
require only a general intent “to discriminate on the basis of
race” where “that discrimination interfered with the making
or enforcing of a contract.” Id. at 17a.

Finally, the majority affirmed the compensatory and
punitive awards. It acknowledged that “any economic
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damage that resulted from the store’s intentional interference
with the redemption of the fragrance sample was negligible.”
Pet. App. 32a. Even though Section 1981, by its terms,
applies only to conduct that purposefully prevents the making
or enforcing of a contract, the court of appeals upheld the
compensatory award based upon Hampton’s testimony
regarding her emotional suffering caused by being accused of
shoplifting in front of her family. /d. at 32a-33a. The court
also affirmed the $1.1 million punitive award on the basis of
the testimony not about Dillard’s denial of the right to “make
and enforce contracts,” but instead upon testimony regarding
Dillard’s training of its security staff, its surveillance policies,
reports regarding observations of African-American custom-
ers and Dillard’s arrest reports. Id. at 34a, 35a.

In dissent, Senior Judge Anderson emphasized that there
was no evidence that Dillard’s sought to interfere with
Hampton’s contract because “[n]othing in Ms. Hampton’s or
Ms. Cooper’s testimony remotely suggests that Mr. Wilson’s
conduct towards them indicated an intention to prevent either
plaintiff from redeeming the fragrance coupons.” Pet. App.
45a. Judge Anderson explained that the evidence reflected
that, at most, any interference with “Ms. Hampton’s
redemption of her fragrance coupon was purely fortuitous.”
Id. (emphasis added). The dissent further explained that there
was no evidence that “either Mr. Wilson’s or plaintiffs’
conduct, or Ms. Hampton’s damages . . . would have been
different in any way had Ms. Hampton already received her
fragrance sample.” Id. at 46a. Specifically, Judge Anderson
explained that “all the evidence indicates that it was the
wrongful accusation of shoplifting, not the denial of her free
fragrance sample, which caused Ms. Hampton’s alleged
injuries.” Id. Judge Anderson emphasized, however, that
Section 1981 “does not provide a remedy for the wrongful
accusation of shoplifting, absent some interference with a
contract benefit.” /d.
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Dillard’s petitioned for rehearing and rehearing en banc.
The same panel majority voted to deny rehearing, while
Senior Judge Anderson would have granted the petition. Pet.
App. 97a. A majority of the active judges of the court of
appeals denied the petition for rehearing en banc. See 10th
Cir. R. 35.5. Chief Judge Tacha, Judge Kelly, and Judge
Brorby voted to grant rehearing en banc. Pet. App. 97a.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Certiorari should be granted because the court of appeals’
decision poses an important issue regarding the legal scope of
the “make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981
that has generated conflicting positions among the courts of
appeals. That issue presents a recurring and outcome deter-
minative question in cases filed throughout the country in
which plaintiffs have sought relief based on allegations that
the services that they received from retailers were inferior in
some way to the services allegedly afforded to white
customers. This case squarely presents that conflict. Al-
though the court below concluded that even a brief delay
occasioned by an investigative stop was sufficient to support
relief, Plaintiff could not have prevailed under the legal
standards adopted by the courts of appeals in other circuits
that employ more demanding rules for determining whether
there was been a denial of a contractual right that would
support liability under Section 1981. The case thus warrants
review so the Court can resolve this conflict and provide one
uniform nationwide standard to govern claims under the
“make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981.

There is a profound conflict among the circuits regarding
the legal standards for determining whether conduct violates
the “make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981.
On the one hand, the courts of appeals for the Seventh, Fifth
and Eighth Circuits employ a bright-line standard that
requires plaintiffs to establish that they suffered an “actual
loss of a contractual interest,” which, in the retail context,
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requires that they prove that they were denied admittance,
denied service, or required to leave the store. This approach,
in turn, has been adopted by numerous district courts
throughout the country. In contrast, the Third and Sixth
Circuits, as well as the court of appeals in this case, have
employed a far more lenient standard that authorizes recovery
under Section 1981 even when a plaintiff has not been denied
service, but instead has alleged that there was a delay in
receiving service or that the service actually received was
inferior or in some way different from that received by white
customers. Those decisions too have been adopted by a
number of district courts that have embraced this more
expansive view of Section 1981.

This case squarely presents this conflict for resolution
because under the standards adopted by the Seventh, Fifth and
Eighth Circuits, Plaintiff could not have prevailed under
Section 1981 based upon the brief delay associated with the
investigative stop in this case. Simply put, Plaintiff’s con-
tractual right to redeem her fragrance coupon was precisely
the same after the stop as it was before. The court of appeals’
efforts to reconcile its holding with that of conflicting court of
appeals’ decisions simply do not withstand scrutiny because,
at bottom, Plaintiff could not have recovered under Section
1981 if her case had been filed in the Seventh, Fifth or Eighth
Circuits because her contractual rights both before and after
the security stop were the same.

There can be no question that proper resolution of this
conflict regarding the meaning of one of the nation’s oldest
civil rights statutes is an issue of surpassing importance. For
over 100 years, the Court has resolved conflicts regarding the
proper scope of Section 1981. Adoption of one uniform
national standard is necessary to ensure that consumers will
know the scope of their rights under Section 198I1.
Conversely, a uniform standard will alleviate unnecessary
uncertainty and allow retailers better to assess the scope of
their obligations so that they can establish company-wide
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protocols that are not subject to differing standards depending
upon the location of the specific store in question. Liability
under Section 1981 should be governed by substance, not
geography. Finally, resolution of the proper scope of Section
1981 is important to securing a proper balance between State
and federal law with respect to the obligations owed by
retailers to their customers.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW PRESENTS A CONFLICT
AMONG THE COURTS OF APPEALS AS TO THE
PROPER SCOPE OF THE “MAKE AND ENFORCE
CONTRACTS” PROVISION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981, AN
ISSUE OF SURPASSING NATIONAL IMPORTANCE.

A. The Courts Of Appeals Have Adopted Conflicting
Standards For Assessing Whether Conduct Violates
The “Make And Enforce Contracts” Provision Of
Section 1981.

1. At least three courts of appeals have adopted a bright-
line standard for determining whether conduct violates the
“make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981.
Under those standards, Plaintiff could not have prevailed
under Section 1981 because she failed to establish that the
conduct about which she complained resulted in the “actual
loss of a contract interest.”

In the Seventh Circuit, to state a cause of action under
Section 1981 in a retail setting, a customer categorically must
show that he was “denied . . . admittance” or “service,” or
required “to leave the store.” Morris v. Office Max, Inc., 89
F.3d 411, 414 (7th Cir. 1996). In Morris, the customers
argued that the store discouraged or dissuaded them from
purchasing time stamps by calling uniformed police officers
to stop them and ask them questions in the store. Id. The
Morris Court explained that plaintiffs failed to state a
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violation of Section 1981 because they were not denied
admittance or service or required to leave the store. Id. The
Seventh Circuit ruled that a cause of action under Section
1981 must allege and establish “the actual loss of a contract
interest, not merely the possible loss of future contract
opportunities.” Id. at 414-15.

Similarly, in Bagley v. Ameritech Corp., 220 F.3d 518 (7th
Cir. 2000), the Seventh Circuit held that even where a
customer is refused service by one employee, that is not a
basis for a Section 1981 action if the customer could have
been served by other employees. Id. at 522. Although one
employee had been outwardly hostile to Bagley and had
refused to wait on him, the Court concluded that there had
been no Section 1981 violation because the evidence reflected
that defendant nevertheless “would have sold Bagley a
phone.” Id. The court of appeals reasoned that because
Bagley cut off his opportunity to make the purchase by
leaving the store, the defendant had not denied him the right
to make and enforce contracts under Section 1981. Id. at 521-
22.

In Bellows v. Amoco Oil Co., 118 F.3d 268 (5th Cir. 1997),
the Fifth Circuit held that a violation of Section 1981 requires
a plaintiff to show that the defendant’s conduct had
“modified, changed or terminated” the contractual relation-
ship. Id. at 275. Applying that standard and relying upon the
Seventh Circuit’s decision in Morris, the court of appeals
reversed a jury verdict against defendant because the evidence
was inadequate to prove that defendant “did in fact interfere
with the contract.” Id. (emphasis omitted). Specifically, the
Fifth Circuit held that Section 1981 had not been violated
because plaintiff failed to demonstrate how its contractual
rights were “in any way changed, modified, altered, terminat-
ed, or otherwise affected by any of [defendant’s] actions.” /d.
at 275.

Finally, and most recently, the Eighth Circuit’s decision in
Youngblood v. Hy-Vee Food Stores, Inc., 266 F.3d 851 (8th
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Cir. 2001), also reflects similar principles. There, the court of
appeals affirmed the grant of summary judgment, holding that
there was no Section 1981 liability where a customer was
stopped for shoplifting after making a purchase and his
purchase was confiscated by the store. Id. at 853. The court
explained that “Section 1981 does not provide a general cause
of action for race discrimination if in fact it occurred,” rather,
“a plaintiff must point to some contractual relationship in
order to bring a claim under Section 1981.” Id. at 855.
Because the customer had completed his purchase and
received the merchandise from the clerk, the Eighth Circuit
reasoned that “neither party owed the other any duty under
the retail-sale contract,” and therefore there could be no
liability under Section 1981. Id. at 854.

District courts outside these circuits also have applied
standards consistent with those adopted by the Seventh, Fifth
and Eighth Circuits. Thus, in Garrett v. Tandy Corp., 142 F.
Supp. 2d 117 (D. Me. 2001), the court explained that the
proper focus in Section 1981 was on “restrictions on the
ability to contract . . . not general mistreatment related to
race,” and therefore Section 1981 “require[d] that a complaint
‘allege the actual loss of a contract interest.”” Id. at 119 & n.3
(quoting Morris, 89 F.3d at 414-15).% Further, district courts
have rejected Section 1981 claims predicated upon allegations
“of delayed service” because such allegations “do not rise to
the level of interference with a contract sufficient to grant
relief under § 1981.” Jeffrey v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc., 90

* See also Rogers v. Elliott, 135 F. Supp. 2d 1312, 1315 (N.D. Ga.
2001) (“Virtually all federal courts that have analyzed Section 1981
claims in the retail merchandise context have required the plaintiff to
show that he was actually prevented from making a purchase.”) (citing
cases); Jackson v. Tyler’s Dad’s Place, Inc., 850 F. Supp. 53, 56 (D.D.C.
1994) (granting summary judgment where plaintiffs were “invited to dine
in the bar area but refused”), aff’d, 107 F.3d 923 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (mem.).
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F. Supp. 2d 1066, 1069 (S.D. Cal. 2000).> Finally, district
courts have rejected the notion that an accusation of
shoplifting, even if false, is sufficient to state a claim under
Section 1981 because “such a theory would come close to
nullifying the contract requirement of section 1981 altogether,
thereby transforming the statute into a general cause of action
for race discrimination in all contexts.” Lewis v. J.C. Penney

Co., 948 F. Supp. 367, 371-72 (D. Del. 1996).*

These cases show not only that Plaintiff’s claim would have
been dismissed in many courts, but also that these issues arise
in the retail setting every day and thus a decision by this
Court is profoundly warranted.

2. In contrast to the decisions above, the Third and Sixth
Circuits, like the court of appeals below, have adopted a more
sweeping view of the “make and enforce contracts” provision
of Section 1981.

For instance, the Third Circuit has held that a Section 1981
claim can stand even where there has been no showing of a
denial of service to the customer. See Hall v. Pennsylvania
State Police, 570 F.2d 86, 88 (3d Cir. 1978). In Hall, an
African-American bank customer brought a claim under
Section 1981 because his bank allegedly had a policy of
photographing African-American customers, but not white
customers, when they entered the bank. Id. at 92. The district

3 See also Bobbitt by Bobbitt v. Rage Inc., 19 F. Supp. 2d 512, 518
(W.D.N.C. 1998) (“‘[Tlhe mere fact of slow service in a fast-food
restaurant does not . . . rise to the level of violating one’s civil rights’”); cf.
Robertson v. Burger King, Inc., 848 F. Supp. 78, 81 (E.D. La. 1994)
(delay in service does not support claim under Section 1981).

* See also Garrett v. Tandy Corp., 142 F. Supp. 2d 117, 119 (D. Me.
2001) (noting that accusation of shoplifting failed to state claim under
Section 1981 because that conduct did not “interfere with contract . . .
rights” of plaintiff); Rogers, 135 F. Supp. 2d at 1313, 1315 (holding that
conduct, including accusation of shoplifting, failed to support Section
1981 because it occurred after transaction had been completed).
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court concluded that plaintiff could not bring a Section 1981
claim because he “did not allege deprivation of any
contractually related right because of race.” Id. at 89. The
Third Circuit reversed, holding that “Section 1981 obligates
commercial enterprises to extend the same treatment to
contractual customers ‘as is enjoyed by white citizens.”” Id.
at 92.

Similarly, in Christian v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 252 F.3d
862 (6th Cir. 2001), the Sixth Circuit reversed the grant of
judgment as a matter of law to a defendant as to a Section
1981 claim at the close of the customers’ case. Id. at 872.
There, Christian, who was African-American, and Edens,
who was white, were shopping together at a Wal-Mart store.
Id. at 864. The women were stopped when a store employee
suspected that Christian had been shoplifting. Id. at 865. The
employee subsequently saw the missing item returned to the
shelf and called a cashier to tell the police not to come to the
store. Id. at 866. The police nevertheless arrived and, upon
the store manager’s recommendation, asked both women to
leave the store. /d.

In reversing, the Sixth Circuit established a sweeping
standard for Section 1981 claims in the commercial establish-
ment context. Relying upon Callwood v. Dave & Buster’s,
Inc., 98 F. Supp. 2d 694 (D. Md. 2000), the Sixth Circuit held
that a plaintiff could prevail under Section 1981 not only
where he was “deprived of services” while “similarly situated
persons outside the protected class were not” but also where a
plaintiff actually “received services in a markedly hostile
manner and in a manner which a reasonable person would
find objectively discriminatory.” Christian, 252 F.3d at 872
(emphasis added). Thus, under the Sixth Circuit’s standard, a
plaintiff can bring a Section 1981 claim even if plaintiff is not
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denied service, but where the manner in which such service is
provided is “markedly hostile.”

Further, in this case, the Tenth Circuit ruled that a brief
investigative stop was sufficient to state a claim under Section
1981 because it occurred while Plaintiff was redeeming a
fragrance coupon. Pet. App. 16a. In the majority’s view,
Plaintiff stated a cause of action under Section 1981 because
there was evidence from which the jury could conclude that
there had been an “interruption of an ongoing transaction” by
the Dillard’s security guard. Id. at 16a n.3. In context, this
holding is breathtaking in its scope. Here, it was undisputed
that the investigative stop lasted at most five minutes, that
Hampton was not prevented from redeeming her fragrance
coupon after the investigative stop, and that Hampton
acknowledged that she returned to the fragrance counter after
the investigative stop but did not seek to redeem her fragrance

(1391

coupon because “‘it wasn’t a concern to her.”” Id. at 90a.°

B. The Decision Below Squarely Implicates This
Conflict Among The Courts Of Appeals.

The ruling of the court of appeals in this case squarely
implicates this substantial conflict among the circuits as to the

> Other courts have adopted the Callwood court’s expansive reading of
Section 1981. See, e.g., Bethea v. Michael’s Family Rest. & Diner, No.
00-6216, 2001 WL 722566, at *3 (E.D. Pa. June 26, 2001) (relying upon
Callwood to hold that allegations of delay in service were sufficient to
state claim under Section 1981).

® Consistent with these decisions, district courts also have concluded
that plaintiffs can recover under Section 1981 even where they have not
been denied service. See, e.g., Buchanan v. Consolidated Stores Corp.,
125 F. Supp. 2d 730, 735 (D. Md. 2001) (“[t]he fact that purchases were
made is not dispositive” because “Courts have allowed § 1981 claims to
proceed even though a plaintiff was allowed to complete his or her sales
transaction or contract with the defendant”); Williams v. Cloverleaf Farms
Dairy, Inc., 78 F. Supp. 2d 479, 485 (D. Md. 1999) (allowing section 1981
claim on the basis of “delay in completing the transaction” coupled with
“alleged racial attack”).
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legal standards for determining whether conduct violates the
“make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981.

1. Under the standards adopted in Morris, Bagley,
Bellows, and Youngblood, Hampton could not have recovered
because the temporary delay resulting from the investigative
stop did not violate Hampton’s right to “make and enforce
contracts” under Section 1981. Under Morris, Hampton
could not have recovered because she failed to show “the
actual loss of a contract interest.” See Morris, 89 F.3d at 414.
That is, both before and after the investigative stop, Hampton
retained the contractual right to redeem her coupon at the
fragrance counter. Put another way, as the Fifth Circuit has
ruled, there was no evidence that Plaintiff’s contractual
relationship “was in any way changed, modified, altered,
terminated, or otherwise affected by any of [Dillard’s]
actions.” Bellows, 118 F.3d at 275.

That conclusion is confirmed by analyzing the bases for the
jury’s compensatory and punitive damages awards against
Dillard’s. As explained by the panel majority, “any economic
damage that resulted from the store’s intentional interference
with the redemption of the fragrance sample was negligible.”
Pet. App. 32a. Rather, the compensatory award was
predicated on Hampton’s emotional distress arising from an
accusation, made in front of the children who were with her in
the store, that Plaintiff (or her niece Cooper) had been
shoplifting. Of course, that accusation and those emotional
injuries have nothing to do with Plaintiff’s rights under
Section 1981 to “make or enforce” the fragrance coupon that
she received as a benefit of her purchase of clothing from
Dillard’s. Nothing “in this case would have been different
had Mr. Wilson intercepted plaintiffs before, during or after
they redeemed their fragrance coupons” because it was the
“wrongful accusation of shoplifting, not the denial of her free
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fragrance sample, which caused Ms. Hampton’s alleged
injuries.” Id. at 46a (Anderson, S.J., dissenting).’

Further, under Bagley, Hampton could not have recovered
based solely upon the delay resulting from the investigative
stop because she was not prevented from redeeming her
fragrance coupon. 220 F.3d at 521-22. Although, as in
Bagley, Plaintiff undoubtedly took offense when a Dillard’s
employee asked to search the Dillard’s shopping bag that
Hampton was carrying, there is no question that Hampton
could have redeemed her coupon at the fragrance counter
after the brief stop. Indeed, even the panel majority
acknowledged that “Wilson’s testimony does not suggest he
had the subjective intent to prevent the redemption of the
coupon.” Pet. App. 16a. Rather, the “purely fortuitous”
timing of the interruption merely delayed the redemption of
the fragrance coupon in the same way that the hostile
treatment by the employee in Bagley delayed the plaintiff’s
effort to purchase a phone. 220 F.3d at 522. But, in Bagley,
the Court held that a plaintiff cannot recover if he “opted not
to contract with [defendant]” by “leaving the store” and
abandoning the opportunity to complete the contractual
transaction. Id. at 521-22. In the same way, after filing a
complaint with the store’s service department, Hampton
returned to the fragrance counter, but never attempted to
redeem the fragrance coupon because “‘it wasn’t a concern to
her.”” Pet. App. 90a.

Finally, under the standards adopted in Youngblood, where
the plaintiff’s purchase was confiscated by defendant,
Hampton could not recover because the delay in redeeming
the fragrance coupon was undoubtedly far less intrusive than

"The same is true of the punitive award that the panel majority
affirmed based upon evidence “about the coding and close surveillance of
African-American shoppers,” Pet. App. 35a, and not with any “nominal”
economic injury arising from the delay in redeeming the fragrance
coupon.
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the conduct in Youngblood. See 266 F.3d at 854. Instead,
Plaintiff was subjected to a brief delay occasioned by an
investigative stop that was supported by probable cause and
conducted in an objectively reasonable manner. Pet. App.
95a-96a. Hampton retained the benefit of the clothes that she
purchased as well as the contractual right to redeem the
fragrance coupon after the investigative stop.

2.  The court of appeals’ implicit suggestion that its
decision is consistent with the standards adopted by other
courts of appeals such as Morris does not survive scrutiny.
Pet. App. 16a n.3. In responding to Judge Anderson’s
showing that no evidence supported the conclusion that
Wilson had “the subjective intent to prevent the redemption
of the coupon,” id. at 16a, the majority purported to rely upon
the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Morris. Specifically, the
majority argued that cases such as Morris support the view
that “inopportune timing neither alters the resulting inter-
ruption of an ongoing transaction nor defeats this § 1981
action.” Id. 16a n.3 (citing Morris for the proposition that
Section 1981 claim fails where plaintiffs were stopped “after
making purchase” and thus “‘were neither denied neither
admittance nor service, nor were they asked to leave the
store’”).

But the panel misinterprets Morris. There, the Seventh
Circuit’s decision was not based upon “inopportune timing”
(from the perspective of plaintiffs), but on the threshold

¥ The Youngblood court purported to distinguish the decision in this
case by arguing that, here, the fragrance coupon extended the benefits of
the purchase contract. 266 F.3d at 854. But that distinction is illusory.
Under the Eighth Circuit’s holding in Youngblood, Dillard’s could have
confiscated Hampton’s purchases and her coupon because Hampton had
already completed her purchase. Applying the holding in Youngblood,
Hampton would not be able to bring a Section 1981 claim if her purchases
and coupon had been confiscated after being stopped on a suspicion of
shoplifting, although she could bring a conversion claim for the value of
the confiscated property.
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failure by plaintiffs who “did not attempt to make any further
purchases” and therefore could not allege “the actual loss of a
contract interest.” Morris, 89 F.3d at 414. So too here, the
“purely fortuitous” timing of the investigative stop also
should have been irrelevant to whether Hampton was
deprived of her contractual right to redeem the free fragrance
coupon. Her decision to abandon any contractual rights that
she had with respect to the free fragrance sample after the
investigative stop is fatal to her ability to demonstrate that she
suffered an “actual loss of a contract interest” under Morris.

In sum, there is a hopeless conflict among the courts of
appeals regarding the legal standards that govern whether
conduct violates the “make and enforce contracts” component
of Section 1981, and only this Court can resolve that
intolerable situation.

C. The Proper Application Of Section 1981 Presents An
Important And Recurring Issue Of Federal Law.

This Court has upon repeated occasions grappled with cases
raising questions regarding the proper scope of the nation’s
civil rights laws in general, and the scope of Section 1981 in
particular.” The Court’s close attention to cases involving the

? See, e.g., Rivers v. Roadway Express, Inc., 511 U.S. 298, 313 (1994)
(holding that 1991 Amendments to Section 1981 apply prospectively
only); Jett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dist., 491 U.S. 701, 735 (1989) (holding
that Section 1983 provides “the exclusive federal damages remedy for the
violation of the rights guaranteed by § 1981 when the claim is pressed
against a state actor”); Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164,
172, 176 (1989) (reaffirming that Section 1981 “prohibits racial
discrimination in the making and enforcement of private contracts” but is
not “a general proscription of racial discrimination in all aspects of
contract relations”); Saint Francis Coll. v. Al-Khazraji, 481 U.S. 604, 613
(1987) (holding that Section 1981 applies to discrimination based upon
“ancestry or ethnic characteristics™); General Bldg. Contractors Ass’n v.
Pennsylvania, 458 U.S. 375, 391 (1982) (holding that Section 1981 “can
be violated only by purposeful discrimination™); McDonald v. Santa Fe
Trail Transp. Co., 427 U.S. 273, 295, 296 (1976) (holding that Section
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interpretation of these statutes reflects, in no small measure,
the importance of their proper and uniform construction.
Here there can be no doubt of the need for or importance of
an authoritative ruling resolving the conflict regarding the
proper legal standard for determining whether conduct
violates the “make and enforce” contracts provision of
Section 1981. This is particularly so in light of the inconsis-
tent decisions of the courts of appeals since Congress’ 1991
Amendments to Section 1981. Indeed, apart from ruling that
the 1991 Amendments usher in a “new standard of conduct”
and therefore applied prospectively only, this Court has had
no occasion to delineate the legal bounds of Section 1981
since Congress’ amendments. See Rivers, 511 U.S. at 304.

Second, the competing interests at issue include not only
the consistent enforcement of federal civil rights laws, but
also the regulation of contractual rights and the ability of
retailers to carry on their day-to-day business. As reflected in
Part A, numerous district courts and courts of appeals have
been presented with allegations concerning the scope of the
“make and enforce contracts” provision of Section 1981 in
cases brought by retail customers. Because of the ubiquitous
nature of retail transactions, and because of the magnitude of
jury verdicts such as the one in this case, there can be no
doubt that the filing of such cases will continue. Due to the
conflicting interpretations of the scope of Section 1981’s
protections and obligations, however, neither consumers nor
retailers are subject to uniform rights and obligations
throughout the country. Moreover, because large retailers
operate stores in many parts of the country, they are subjected
to needless uncertainty, are unable to enforce consistent
policies and instead must implement a patchwork of

1981 prohibited “discrimination in the making or enforcement of contracts
against . . . any race” including “white[s]”); Runyon v. McCrary, 427 U.S.
160, 168 (1976) (ruling that Section 1981 applied to private contracts);
Johnson v. Railway Express Agency, Inc., 421 U.S. 454, 460 (1975)
(stating that Section 1981 applies to private employment contracts).



24

procedures and protocols to satisfy what should be a single
national standard.

Third, resolution of this conflict is important because the
proper scope of the “make and enforce contracts” provision of
Section 1981 implicates important questions regarding the
division of authority between Federal and State government.
Indeed, the expansive interpretation of the scope of Section
1981 caused the court of appeals effectively to deny the
protections afforded to retailers under State law. Pet. App.
19a & n.4. Here, the court of appeals acknowledged that the
stop complied with State law requirements—namely Kansas’
statutory merchants defense—but concluded that such
compliance was irrelevant to the Section 1981 issue. Id. at
19a n.4. To be sure, Dillard’s compliance with the probable
cause safe-harbor under State law may not necessarily be
determinative of Plaintiff’s Section 1981 claim, id., but State
law certainly is not irrelevant to determining the proper scope
of Section 1981. See Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S.
462, 479 (1977) (explaining that, unless Congress plainly
directs, the Court is “reluctant to federalize” matters tradition-
ally covered by state common law). Moreover, restraint in
construing a federal statute is especially appropriate where, as
here, a more expansive interpretation of a congressional
enactment would approach the constitutional limits of
congressional authority. See, e.g., Edward J. DeBartolo
Corp. v. Florida Gulf Coast Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council,
485 U.S. 568, 575 (1988); NLRB v. Catholic Bishop, 440 U.S.
490, 500 (1979).

Finally, as shown above, this case directly implicates the
conflict among the courts of appeals and thus presents an
appropriate vehicle for resolving the conflict and announcing
a single uniform standard for determining whether conduct
violates the “make and enforce contracts” provision of
Section 1981. See supra at 13-22. The Court simply should
not allow recovery under Section 1981 to depend solely on
the fortuity of geography.
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CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should
be granted.
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not entitle Dillard’s to a new trial. Dillard’s cross-examined
both witnesses extensively on this testimony and whether
they had a rational basis for their opinions. Given the
abundant independent evidence regarding Dillard’s treatment
of minority shoppers, the Court is certain that the self-serving
testimony of plaintiff and Cooper on this issue had no
material effect on the jury.

Dillard’s also attacks admission of evidence that ijt
characterizes as “rumor” regarding the scheduling of security
officers. This evidence dealt with the fact that according to
Imber and Powell, Dillard’s started to schedule work shifts
for security officers based in part on how many people they
apprehended. This change was a factor in Imber’s decision to
quit, and plaintiff asserts that it was admissible as an
exception to the hearsay rule. See Fed.R.Evid. 803(1). In any
cvent, operations manager Dirks testified that she com-
piles her schedule for security officers based in part
upon their effectiveness as officers, including the num-
ber of apprehensions. This evidence was admissible and
in any event could not have affected the substantial rights
of Dillard’s.

Dillard’s next asserts that the Court improperly allowed
plaintiff to impeach Wilson with evidence of incidents of
untruthfulness, one of which occurred over 20 years ago,
Under Fed.R.Evid. 608, specific instances of past misconduct
that is probative of a witnesses’ character for truthfulness
may be the subject of inquiry on cross-exarmination, although
it may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. The rule gives
the Court discretion and does not include g recency
requirement. Although the recency is certainly a factor which
the jury may consider, the Court did not abuse its discretion
in allowing plaintiff to inquire of Wilson about an incident in
which he was suspended for filing an erroneous leave report.
Evidence of an allegation of an incident in 1995 for which
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Wilson was ultimately cleared was also not erroneously
admitted. The jury heard Wilson’s explanation and could
give it appropriate weight.

Dillard’s next asserts that the Court erred in admitting
statistical evidence of the race of persons involved in arrests
and other incidents. Several witnesses, including Dirks and
other Dillard’s employees, testified concerning the incident
log which included racial codes from which plaintiff gleaned
damning statistical evidence. Dillard’s asserts that the statis-
tical evidence was more unfairly prejudicial than probative,
and argues that this evidence had no relevance to the question
whether Wilson intentionally discriminated against plaintiff
by interfering with her ability to redeem her free fragrance
coupon. Dillard’s also contends that the Court erred in
admitting the Security Incident Log, Ex. 3, the History of
Arrests Document, Ex. 6, and the Compilation of Data from
History of Arrests, Ex. 7, because these exhibits were
prejudicial and misleading.’””> The Court disagrees. This

2 Tronically, plaintiff had originally intended to offer only summaries
of these exhibits to demonstrate that African-American shoppers were
stopped at a rate that was disproportionate to their representation in the
pool of shoppers at the Dillard’s store in the Qak Park Mall. Defendant
strenuously objected to this statistical method of proof, and to make her
point, plaintiff was forced to prepare a large demonstrative exhibit in the
courtroom, plodding through each exhibit and tallying the reported racial
composition of the suspicious shoppers at defendant’s store. This water-
torture method of proof, which consumed many hours, acmally redounded
to plaintiff’s benefit because the jury thereby learned much more than the
sterile statistical information which was the purpose of plaintiff’s exercise.
For one thing, the jury learned the astoundingly innocuous nature of
conduct which Dillard’s viewed as “suspicious” when committed by
minority shoppers—whether black, hispanic, or otherwise. For example,
the entries on the log included “two black females in dresses
fdepartment],” TT Tr. Trans. at 360; “four black males and one black
female made purchase and left without incident,” id. at 365; “two groups
of black females in better dresses [department],” IIT Tr. Trans. 394; and
“two black females walking around with a list of some kind.” Id. at 401,




76a

evidence was indirect evidence that Dillard’s had a corporate
policy which targeted African-American and other mnority
shoppers for security purposes.

Dillard’s next argues that the Court erred in refusing to
admit plaintiff’s exhibit 15, a statement which plaintiff gave
about the incident on April 5, 1996. Dillard’s offered this
exhibit as an admission against interest, Fed.R.Evid.
801(d)(2), to show that in her initial statement plaintiff did
not allege that the incident was racially motivated. Even if it
[sic] the Court erred in excluding this statement, plaintiff
admitted on cross-examination that she did not nitially tell
the store manager that she believed the incident was racially
motivated; thus Dillard’s was not prejudiced by any error.

Dillard’s next contends that the Court erred in allowing
plaintiff’s counsel to read from Chouteau’s statement in
cross-examining Dirks. Dillards alleges that this allowed
plaintiff to use hearsay testimony without Dillard’s being able
to cross-examine Chouteau. Plaintiff points out that Dillard’s
had made much of the fact that on the day of the incident,
plaintiff did not claim that it was racially motivated. Dirks
had testified that she had read the reports, including
Chouteau’s report, and that she found in them no claim of
race discrimination. Thus, it was proper for plaintiff to use
the statement to cross-examine Dirks.

Finally, Dillard’s asserts that the Court erred in allowing
plaintiff to offer rebuttal testimony that Daryl Hayes, a
Dillard’s employee, used the ““N’ word” while working for
Oak Park Mall Security in the early 1990’s. Plaintiff
contends such testimony was proper rebuttal evidence under
Fed.R.Evid. 613(b) because Hayes had denied ever using the
word and Dillard’s could have recalled him as a witness,
Plaintiff points out that Fed.R Evid. 608(b) does not preclude
rebuttal evidence if offered to show that a statement made
on direct examination is false, even if that statement is
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collateral. See United States v. Fleming, 19 F.3d 1325, 1331
(10th Cir.1994). Dillard’s counters that it was not rebuttal
evidence because it merely contradicted evidence raised by
plaintiff on cross-examination. The Court first notes that
according to plaintiff’s proffer, the tendered testimony was
that Hayes used this word while working for Dillard’s. This
proffer turned out to be in error. Though the Court recog-
nizes that this testimony raised a potential for prejudice,
evidence that Dillard’s employees demonstrated racial animus
was relevant to the case. Further, any error in admitting this
evidence as rebuttal evidence is not a basis for a new trial.

Dillard’s has failed to show that evidentiary errors entitle it
to a new trial.

C. Jury Instructions

Dillard’s asserts that jury instructions 10 and 17 were
contradictory and misleading. Instruction 10 was given after
the first phase of the trial, and provided in part that plaintiff

claims [Dillard’s] violated her civil rights under
42 U.S.C. § 1981 by intentionally denying her the right
to enjoy all benefits and privileges of her contractual
relationship with Dillard’s, on account of her race. More
specifically, plaintiff contends that [Dillard’s] inten-
tionally prevented her from redeeming a free cologne
sample which Dillard’s had given her as a benefit of a
purchase in its children’s department.

Doc. # 139. Instruction 17 was given after the second phase
of the case, and stated that plaintiff

claims that [Dillard’s] violated her civil rights under 42
U.S.C. § 1981 by intentionally denying her the right to
enjoy all benefits and privileges of her contractual
relationship with Dillard’s on account of her race. More
specifically, plaintiff contends that Dillard’s surveil-
lance, detention and search of her belongings constituted
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a security practice which unequatly burdened her as an
African-American shopper.

Doc. # 142. Dillard’s correctly points out that this last
sentence quoted from Instruction 17 suggests an implied
contract claim, and that claim was disposed of on summary
Judgment. But Instruction 17 set forth nothing more than
plaintiff’s claim. Instruction I8 specifically set out the
elements of plaintiff’s § 1981 claim at trial. Further, although
Dillard’s suggests otherwise, Instruction 18 states that in
order to prove that her race was a motivating factor in
Dillard’s conduct, plaintiff had the burden of proving that
“but for its unlawful motive, defendant would not have
denied plaintiff the right to enjoy the benefits and privileges
of her purchase.” Taken as a whole, these and the other
instructions provided a correct statement of the law and
provided the jury an ample understanding of the issues and
applicable legal standards. See Allen v. Minnstar, 97 F.3d
1365, 1368 (10th Cir.1996).

D. Sufficiency of the Evidence

Dillard’s argues that it is entitled to a new trial because the
jury verdict with respect to liability, compensatory damages
and punitive damages was contrary to the clear weight of
authority. A new trial is not warranted unless the verdict was
“clearly, decidedly, or overwhelmingly” against the weight of
the evidence. May v. Interstate Moving & Storage Co., 739
F.2d 521, 525 (10th Cir.1984),

The Court emphatically rejects Dillard’ [sic] argument that
the evidence in this case was not sufficient to support the
verdict. Plaintiff was an extremely credible witness. Some of
Dillard’s witnesses, including Wilson in particular and to a
lesser extent Dirks, were not similarly credible. Because the
weight of the evidence was in plaintiff’s favor, the reasons
detailed by the Court in denying Dillard’s motion for
Judgment as a matter of law apply here and clearly support
the jury’s verdict.
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I, Judgment As A Matter Of Law on Punitive Damages

Dillard’s next argues that it is entitled to judgment as a
matter of law because the evidence was insufficient to submit
plaintiff’s punitive damages claim to the jury. Punitive
damages may be imposed in civil rights cases only if the
discrimination was ‘“‘malicious, willful, and in gross disre-
gard of [plaintiff’s] rights.”” Fitzgerald v. Mouniain States
Tel. & Tel. Co., 68 F.3d 1257, 1263 (10th Cir.1995) (quoting
Jackson v. Pool Mortgage Co., 868 F.2d 1178, 1181 (10th
Cir.1989)) (further quotations and citations omitted.).

Dillard’s first asserts that in determining whether to award
punitive damages the jury could properly consider only
Wilson’s conduct on this occasion, and not the prior incidents
of alleged discrimination by Dillard’s employees. Dillards
[sic] points out that Wilson stopped plaintiff for less than five
minutes and used no racial epithets. Further, although the
Jury did not learn of this finding, Dillard’s notes that the
Court found that Wilson had probable cause to stop plaintiff
and search the shopping bag. Dillard’s argues that if Wilson
had a legal right to stop plaintiff, such a finding is
inconsistent with a finding of malice or gross disregard. The
Court has already ruled that it properly kept from the jury its
ruling on probable cause. Once the case went to the jury, the
whole issue of Wilson’s credibility was before it. The Court
has observed that Wilson was not a credible witness, and the
jury obviously agreed.'?

Dillard’s also asserts that plaintiff’s theory was based
solely on the alleged actions of Wilson, and that liability
could be imputed to Dillard’s only under the doctrine of

" The jury’s assessment of Wilson’s credibility was manifest in its
verdict in phase one of the trial-before the jury heard any of the
allegedly inflammatory evidence regarding racially-based treatment of
minority shoppers. If the jury did not believe Wilson’s testimony
regarding where he detained plaintiff, it is no surprise that it rejected his
testimony on the highly consequential subject of discriminatory intent.
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respondeat superior.  Dillard’s cites Fitzgerald for the
assertion that in order to hold Dillard’s liable for punitive
damages based on the actions of one of its employees, the
agent must have the authority to “exercise control, discretion
and independent judgment over a certain area of [the]
business with some power to set policy for the company.”
Fitzgerald, 68 I.3d at 1263. In Fitzgerald, the Tenth Circuit
noted that any intentional discriminatory conduct occurred “at
the hands of [defendant’s employee], not [the corporate
defendant],” and then found that the employee had no
managerial authority necessary to impute liability to the
corporation. See id. at 1263-64 (although employee had some
authority over employment decisions, she had insufficient
power or control over an area of the business and no power to
set company policy). In this case, Wilson did not have the
authority to set policy. But here, contrary to Dillard's
assertions, there was ampie evidence that the act of
selectively targeting Africa-Americans was authorized by
Dirks and Rodgers, as managerial agents for Dillard’s. In
Fitzgerald, plaintiff did not “adequately present{ ] a theory of
independent liability” against the corporation on the inade-
quacy of their investigation. Here, plaintiff presented
substantial evidence that Dillard’s knew about and ratified a
policy of targeting African-Americans, and that Wilson
carried out that policy.

IV. New Trial or Remittitur on Damages

Dillard’s argues that the amount of the total damage award
demonstrates passion or prejudice, and that a new trial is
required.  Plainly excessive damages may support an
inference that passion or prejudice contributed to the jury’s
award. Fitzgerald, 68 F.3d 1257, 1262. But “absent an
award so excessive as to shock the judicial conscience and to
ratse an irresistible inference that passion, prejudice,
corruption or other improper cause invaded the trial, the
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jury’s determination of the damages is considered inviolate.”
Malandris v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.,
703 F.2d 1152, 1168 (10th Cir.1981) {en banc).

A. Compensatory Damages

Dillard’s asserts that a compensatory damage award of
$56,000 is excessive. The Court agrees with Dillard’s
assertion that because the value of the free cologne sample
was negligible, the compensatory award must be premised in
large part on plaintiff’s evidence of emotional injury. But the
Court rejects Dillard’s further assertion that plaintiff’s
testimony about her mental suffering was insufficient as a
matter of law to justity the compensatory damages award. In
FPatterson v. P.HP Healthcare Corp., 90 F.3d 927, 939 (5th
Cir.1996), the Fifth Circuit found that a $40,000 award for
emotional distress was not sufficiently supported by plain-
tiff’s testimony that he felt “frustrated,” “real bad,” “hurt,”
and “angry.” The Fifth Circuit holding was based on the fact
that plaintiff did not present evidence with specificity and the
record contained no evidence that he suffered from “sleep-
lessness, anxiety or depression.” In contrast, in this case
plaintiff gave eloquent and emotionally moving testimony
that Wilson disgraced and humiliated her, in front of her
children, that she was too emotionally distraught to drive, and
that she had to call her husband for a ride home. II Tr. Trans.
326-27. Immediately after the incident she was crying and
she was so upset that she could not write out a customer
comment card, and a Dillard’s employee filled it out for her.
Id. at 337. She testified that “I don’t feel that my life will
ever be the same.” [d. at 328. The jury was entitled to credit
this testimony and to compensate plaintiff accordingly.

As noted in Patterson, “the harm is subjective and
evaluation of it depends considerably on the demeanor of
witnesses.” In this case, plaintiff’s testimony and demeanor

left the Court with a firm conviction that plaintiff suffered
genuine injury which vastly transcended the apparently trivial
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value of any free fragrance sample and the more substantial
insult of Dillard’s refusal to apologize. Plaintiff’s testimony
was eminently credible. Having observed the witnesses and
heard the evidence, the Court can not say that the actual
damage award was based on improper passion and prejudice.

B. New Trial on Punitive Damages

Dillard’s also asserts that the punitive damage award was
excessive and requires a new trial. In so arguing, Dillard’s
again raises the same evidentiary and jury instruction issues
raised before. The Court has found, however, that any trial
errors did not affect the substantial rights of the parties. Thus
they do not require reversal of the punitive damages award.
Further, the alleged fact that the foreperson approached
plaintiff after the verdict and kissed her on the forehead is not
evidence of passion and prejudice.

C. Constitutionality of Punitive Damages Award

Relying on BMW of N. Am. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 116
S.Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996), Dillard’s asserts that the
punitive damages award of $1,100,000 violated the due
process clause of the United States Constitution. In Gore, the
Supreme Cowt struck down a punitive damages award of
$2,000,000 where plaintiff’s purely economic injuries were
$4,000. The Supreme Court found that the punitive damages
award, which had been reduced from $4,000,000 on appeal to
the Alabama Supreme Court, violated the Fourteenth Amend-
ment substantive due process clause. In this case, in federal
court, Dillard’s claim is a Fifth Amendment substantive due
process challenge. The Court need not address how the fact
that this i1s a Fifth Amendment rather than a Fourteenth
Amendment claim might affect the analysis,!* because this
case 1s distinguishable from Gore on many fronts.

' Federal courts have suggested that the Fifth Amendment due pro-
cess protection would apply “equally to the review of punitive damages
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In Continental Trend Resources v. OXY, Inc., 101 F.3d 634
{(10th Cir.1996), on remand in light of Gore, the Tenth Circuit
reduced from $30,000,000 to $6,000,000 a punitive damages
award for tortious interference with contract and prospective
business advantage. In that case the jury had awarded
$269,000 in actual damages. In that context the Tenth Circuit
interpreted Gore as follows.

First, the punitive damage award must relate to conduct
occurring within the state. Continental Trend, 101 F.3d
at 636-37. This factor does not weigh in favor of remittitur
because this is a federal case.”® Cf Gore, 116 S.Ct. at 1604
(state jury increased punitive damage award based on conduct
outside state, which conduct was legal where it occurred;
award thus infringed on policy choices of other states).

Second, defendant must receive “fair notice . . . of the
conduct that will subject [defendant] to punishment.”
Continental Trend, 101 F.3d at 638 (quoting Gore, 116 S.Ct.
at 1598.) “[Slection 1981 . . . has always authorized the
recovery of compensatory and punitive damages.” Carter v.
Sedgwick County, 36 F.3d 952, 955 (10th Cir.1994). Thus
this factor does not weigh in favor of a remittitur,

Third, defendant must receive “fair notice . . . of the
severity of the penalty” that may be imposed. 116 S.Ct. at
1598. The Supreme Court set out three “guideposts” for this
requirement: ““(1) the degree of reprehensibility of the de-
fendant’s conduct, (2) the ratio of the punitive award to the
actual harm inflicted on plaintiff, and (3) the comparison

awarded in federal court.” Lee v. Edwards, 101 F.3d at 809 n. 2 (2d
Cir.1996),

** Even if the jury considered conduct outside the state, in this federal
civil rights case that would not be objectionable. See Deters v. Equifax
Credit Info. Servs., Inc., 981 F.Supp. 1381, 1389 (D.Kan.1997) (the
federalism concerns expressed in Gore have no bearing on the analysis in
a purely federal case).
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between the punitive award and the civil or criminal penalties
that could be imposed for comparable misconduct.”
Continenial Trend, 101 F3d at 638; Gore, 116 S.Ct. at
1598-1603. In this case, the degree of reprehensibility is
assuredly higher than defendant’s conduct in Gore (repainting
a car before selling it). See McKnight v. Circuit City Stores,
Inc., 1997 WL 328638, at *7 (E.D.Va. March 12, 1997). The
ratio of punitive damages to harm inflicted (about 20 to 1)
may be high but as the Supreme Court noted, “low awards of
compensatory damages may properly support a higher ratio
than high compensatory awards, if, for example, a partic-
ularly egregious act has resulted in only a small amount of
economic damages. A higher ratio may also be justified in
cases in which the injury is hard to detect or the monetary
value of noneconomic harm might have been difficult to
determine.” 101 F.3d at 639, quoting Gore, 116 S.Ct. at
1602. Both examples apply in this case. Also, the 20 to 1
ratio here does not in itself violate due process. See, e.g.,
Deters v. Equifax Info. Servs., 981 F.Supp. 1381 (D.Kan.
1997) (hostile environment sexual harassment; jury awarded
$£5,000 in compensatory and $1,000,000 in punitives; court
amended judgment for punitives to bring total damages
within statutory cap and found $295,000 punitives did not
violate substantive due process);

Additionally, the Tenth Circuit has noted that a substantial
punitive award may be required to “influence the behavior of
a prosperous corporation.” Continental Trend, 101 F.3d at
641. The Court acknowledges the Supreme Court’s note that
caution must be exercised in considering the size of a
defendant, but adds that to a large degree that caution is based
upon a concern that state courts not unduly burden interstate
commerce. See Confinental Trend, 101 F.3d at 641, citing
Gore, 116 5.Ct. at 1604. Such a concern is not relevant to a
federal civil rights case such as this,
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Finally, this case is different from cases like Gore and
Continental Trend, which ordered remittiturs in cases
involving “mere economic damages.” Defers, 981 F.Supp. at
1391 (citing Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation v.
Hamilton, 122 F.3d 854, 861-62 (10th Cir.1997); Continental
Trend, 101 F.3d at 638; Gore, 116 S.Ct. at 1599.) Rather, it
mvolves personal injury and emotional damages. The puni-
tive damage award in this case, though large, is not unjustly
so. It does not violate substantive due process. Dillard’s
motion for a remittitar on this basis is denied.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Dillard’s Motion for
Judgment As A Matter of Law, Or Alternately For A New
Trial Or Remittitur, (Doc. # 150) filed December 19, 1997 be
and hereby is OVERRULED.
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APPENDIX C

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT,
D. KANSAS.

No. CIV.A. 97-2182-KHV.

PAULA DARLENE HAMPTON and DEMETRIA COOPER,
Plaintiffs,
V.

DILLARD DEPARTMENT STORES, INC.,
Defendant.

Nov. 25, 1997.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
VRATIL, District Judge.

Plaintiffs Paula Hampton and Demetria Cooper seek
damages for acts committed by Dillard Department Stores,
Inc. (*Dillard’s™), through its security officer Tom Wilson.
Specifically, plaintiffs claim that Wilson discriminated
against them on the basis of race, in violation of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1981, by depriving them of their right to make, perform,
modify and terminate a contract and te enjoy all benefits,
privileges, terms and conditions of their contractual
relationship with Dillard’s. Plaintiffs also claim that Wilson
talsely imprisoned them in violation of Kansas law. This
matter comes before the Court on Defendant’s Motion For
Summary Judgment (Doc. # 67) filed September 24, 1997.
For the reasons stated more fully below, the Court finds that
defendant’s motion should be sustained.
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Summary Judgment Standards

Rule 56(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure directs
the entry of summary judgment in favor of the party who
“show(s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact
and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter
of law.” A principal purpose of the summary judgment rule
is to isolate and dispose of factually unsupported claims or
defenses. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323-24,
106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552-53, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). The court’s
inquiry is to determine “whether there is the need for a trial—
whether, in other words, there are any genuine factual issues
that properly can be resolved only by a finder of fact because
they may reasonably be resolved in favor of either party.”
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250, 106 S.Ct.
2505, 2510, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). Entry of summary
judgment is mandated, after an adequate time for discovery
and upon metion, against a party who fails to make a showing
to establish the existence of an element essential to that
party’s case, and on which that party bears the burden of
proof at trial. Meredith v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 18 F.3d 890,
893 (10th Cir.1994). Summary judgment is inappropriate,
however, if there is sufficient evidence on which a trier of
fact could reasonably find for the nonmoving party. Prenalta
Corp. v. Colorado Interstate Gas Co., 944 F.2d 677, 684
(10th Cir.1991).

The moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating
the absence of a genuine issue of material fact by informing
the court of the basis for its motion. Martin v. Nannie and the
Newborns, Inc., 3 F.3d 1410, 1414 (10th Cir.1993). This
burden, however, does not require the moving party to
“support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials
negating the opponent’s claim.” Celotex, 477 U.S. at 323,
106 S.Ct. at 2552 (emphasis in original). Once the moving
party properly supports its motion, the nonmoving party may
not rest upon mere allegation or denials of his or her
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pleadings, “but must set forth specific facts showing that
there is a genuine issue for trial.” Muck v. United States, 3
F.3d 1378, 1380 (10th Cir.1993). The court reviews the
evidence in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party,
e.g., Thrasher v. B & B Chem., Co., Inc., 2 F.3d 995, 996
(10th Cir.1993), under the substantive law and the evidentiary
burden applicable to the particular claim. Anderson, 477 U.S.
at 255, 106 S.Ct. at 2513.

Summary judgment is appropriate unless there is a genuine
issue of material fact—meaning that a “reasonable jury could
return a verdict for the non-moving party.” Anderson, 477
U.S. at 256, 106 S.Ct. at 2514.

Factual Background

The following material facts are undisputed or, where
disputed, are viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiffs:

Plaintiffs are African-American females. On April 5,
1996, they were shopping for Cooper’s son in the children’s
department of Dillard’s store in Overland Park, Kansas.
Plaintiffs had four children with them—an infant, a one-year-
old and two seven-year-olds. Dillard’s plain-clothed security
officer, Tom Wilson, noticed plaintiffs in the children’s
department and began watching them. Wilson particularly
watched Cooper, who had a rolled-up dark cloth item in her
hand. Wilson saw Cooper looking toward the ceiling and
looking around, which he interpreted as checking to see if
someone was watching. When plaintiffs entered a fitting
room, Wilson asked Pam Fitzgerel, another Dillard’s
employee, to watch plaintiffs in the fitting room. Fitzgerel
could see into plaintiffs’ fitting room because the door was
open. Fitzgerel saw Cooper push a rolled-up cloth item into
her jacket and reported her observation to Wilson, stating at
least twice that she was “positive” she had observed Cooper
putting something underneath her coat. When they left the
fitting room, plaintiffs went to an open cash register and
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Hampton purchased an outfit for Cooper’s son. In return for
the purchase Dillard’s gave plaintiffs coupons for men’s
cologne samples, redeemable at the men’s fragrance counter,
Plamntiffs then proceeded to the fragrance and cosmetics area,
which is located at the nexus where Diilard’s meets the mall.

Wilson interrupted plaintiffs while they were redeem-
ing the cologue samples from fragrance consultant Betty
Chouteau. Wilson informed plaintiffs that someone had
observed Cooper placing something blue underneath her coat.
While in the children’s department Cooper had handled two
pieces of blue merchandise. Hampton purchased one of
them, and Cooper gave the other to one of the children
to return to the store display. Cooper had also carried her
son’s coat.

Wilson told plaintiffs that he needed to look inside their
Dillard’s bag,! He compared the receipt to the merchandise
in the bag and found that it matched. Hampton told Wilson
that she did not appreciate being accused of shoplifting and
that she spent a great deal of money at Dillard’s and did not
deserve to be treated “this way.” Hampton was upset and
raised her voice. Wilson told Hampton to calm down or he
would call the Overland Park Police and have plaintiffs
removed from the store. Wilson did not suggest that he
would call the police to investigate the alleged shoplifting.
Nor did he physically touch plaintiffs, arrest them, or use any
racial epithets or derogatory remarks to or about them.

Wilson “shoved” the bag and merchandise at Hampton,
remarking “that’s fine.” Plaintiffs did not attempt to redeem
the fragrance coupons after the encounter because, according

: Hampton understood that Wilsen was a Dillard’s security officer after
his first comments to them. Cooper was not initially aware of Wilson’s
identity and, in fact, believed he could be a “pervert.” Cooper finally
understood Wilson's identity near the end of the encounter when he gave
Hampton his name and title.
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to Hampton, “it wasn’t a concern to her.” Instead, plaintiffs
proceeded to customer service to complain about Wilson.
Wilson did not follow plaintiffs to the customer service
department. No more than five minutes elapsed between the
time Wilson approached plaintiffs at the fragrance counter
and the time he returned their property to them.

Plantiffs argue that Dillard’s had a pattern and practice of
subjecting African-American shoppers to disparate security
practices, and that Wilson’s surveillance, stop, detention and
search were part of that pattern and practice. In support of
this position, plaintiffs offer deposition testimony from past
and present security officers who testify that African-
American shoppers are treated differently than white
shoppers; that sales associates identify them as shoplifting
suspects with no articulated basis other than race and
presence in a particular department; and that African-
American shoppers have complained to store management
about racially discriminatory treatment of this kind.

Analysis
A. Race Discrimination under 42 U.S.C. § 1981

Litigation under Section 1981 most commonly involves the
right to make and enforce contracts of employment; claims
involving retail transactions are infrequent. See Morris v.
Office Max, Inc., 89 F.3d 411, 413 (7th Cir.1996), and cases
cited therein. Section 1981 addresses racial discrimination in
contractual relationships. As amended by the Civil Rights
Act of 1991, it provides as follows:

(a) All persons within the jurisdiction of the United
States shall have the same right in every State and
Territory to make and enforce contracts . . . as is enjoyed
by white citizens . . . .

(b) For purposes of this section, the term “make and
enforce contracts” includes the making, performance,




O9la

modification, and termination of contracts, and the
enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and condi-
tions of the contractual relationship.

(c) The rights protected by this section are protected
against impairment by nongovernmental discrimination
and impairment under color of State law.

42 US.C. § 1981(a)(c).

For summary judgment purposes, Section 1981 claims are
analyzed under the burden-shifting scheme originally
developed under Title VII in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v.
Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973).
See Thomas v. Denny’s Inc., 111 F.3d 1506, 1509-10 (10th
Cir.1997) (elements of plaintiff's case and allocation of
burdens same under Title VII and Section 1981). Under the
McDonnell Douglas framework, plaintiffs first must establish
a prima facie case of discrimination. Accordingly, plaintiffs
must demonstrate that (1) they are members of a racial
minority; (2) defendant had an intent to discriminate on the
basis of race; and (3) the discrimination concerned one or
more of the activities enumerated in the statute (1 .e., the
making and enforcing of a contract). See Morris, 89 F.3d at

? Defendant asserts that plaintiffs must meet a four part test: (1) that
they are members of a protected class: (2) that they attempted to contract
for certain services; (3) that they were denied the right to contract for
those services; and (4) that such services remained available to others
outside the protected class. See White v. Denny's, Inc., 918 F.Supp. 1418,
1424 (D.Col0.1996). The Court finds that the three part test set forth
above is the correct standard because evidence regarding the treatment of
others outside the protected group is not present in every case of
discrimination. Where similarly situated non-protected individuals are
present, however, disparate treatment may give rise to an inference of
discrimination. See Rawlins-Roa v. United Way, 977 F.Supp. 1101, 1105
n. 2 (D.Kan.1997). Moreover, the elements of a prima facic case are
flexible and are not intended to be rigidly applied. See Cone v. Longmont
United Hosp. Ass'n, 14 F.3d 526, 530 n. 2 (10th Cir.1994),
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413; Green v. State Bar of Texas, 27 F.3d 1083, 1086 (5th
Cir. 1994, Mian v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Sec. Corp.,
7 F.3d 1085, 1087 (2d Cir.1993); Lewis v. J.C. Penney Co.,
Inc., 948 F.Supp. 367, 371 (D.Del. 1996).

Plaintiffs claim that Wilson’s actions (1) deprived them of
their right to make, perform, modify and terminate a contract,
and (2) violated their right to enjoy all benefits, privileges,
terms and conditions of their contractual relationship with
Dillard’s. With regard to the first claim, however, plaintiffs
identify no contract with which Wilson interfered. A claim
for interference with the right to make and enforce a contract
must allege the actual loss of a contract interest. See Morris,
89 F.3d at 414-15 (citing Phelps v. Wichita Eagle-Beacon,
886 F.2d 1262 (10th Cir.1989)). Because plaintiffs fail to
make such a claim, summary judgment must be entered on
plaintiffs’ theory that defendant deprived them of their right
to make, perform, modify and terminate a contract.

Alternatively, plaintiffs argue that freedom from racially
discriminatory security practices is a benefit or privilege of a
merchant’s implied contractual offer to let them shop in its
store. Plaintiffs cite no precedent for this theory and the cases
have not recognized such grounds for recovery. Indeed, the
United States District Court for the District of Delaware
recently considered and rejected a similar argument. In Lewis
v. LC. Penney, 948 F.Supp. at 371-72, plaintiff sought to
premise Section 1981 liability upon an implied contract
between commercial establishments and the public, to the
effect that those who enter store premises will be treated
equally regardless of race. The court rejected this theory,
reasoning that to allow plaintiff to proceed under such a
theory “would come close to nullifying the contract
requirement of section 1981 altogether, thereby transforming
the statute into a general cause of action for race
discrimination in all contexts.” J4. This Court agrees.
Congress did not intend such a result when it extended
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Section 1981 to include “the making, performance, modifi-
cation, and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all
benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual
relationship.”  See 42 US.C. § 1981(b) legislatively over-
ruling Patterson v. McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 176-
77, 109 S.Ct. 2363, 2372-73, 105 LEd.2d 132 (1989)
(holding that Section 1981 does not extend to conduct after
contract formation).? Accordingly, plaintiffs have failed to
¢stablish the third element of their prima facie case—that
defendant infringed rights secured by Section 1981 when it
interfered with the benefits and privileges of such a contract
between Dillard’s and its customers.

This holding does not fully resolve the matter, because in
the Pretrial Order (Doc. # 105) entered November 17, 1997,
plaintiffs advance the factual theory that Wilson interrupted
them while they were redeeming their free cologne coupons,
and that in doing so, he violated their rights to enjoy the
benefits and privileges of their contract with Dillard’s.
Defendant does not deny that the samples were a benefit for
purchases at Dillard’s and admits that plaintiffs never
redeemed the coupons. Defendant’s motion for summary
Judgment does not discuss whether this interruption violated
plaintiffs’ right to enjoy this contractual benefit under Section
1981. This omission is understandable because under the
Scheduling Order (Doc. # 18) entered July 9, 1997, defendant
was required to file its motion for summary Jjudgment before
the pretrial order had been finalized. Indeed, defendant
objected to those portions of the pretrial order which newly
identified plaintiffs’ inability to redeem the fragrance

* To the extent plaintiffs seek relief for defendant’s interference with
their right to purchase personal property they could have sought relief
under 42 U.S.C. § 1982, which provides: “All citizens of the United
States shall have the same right, in every State and Territory, as is enjoyed
by white citizens thereof to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey
real and personal property.”
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coupons as a basis for recovery. The Court allowed plaintiffs
to proceed on their factual theory because it appeared to be
clarification, however, and not a departure from previously
pleaded grounds for relief. Nonetheless, summary judgment
on this issue is inappropriate.’

B. False Imprisonment

Plaintiffs claim that when Wilson detained them for “no
longer than” five minutes, he falsely imprisoned them in
violation of Kansas law. To state such a claim “all that is
necessary is that the individual be restrained of [her] liberty
without any sufficient legal cause therefor, and by words or
acts which the one being restrained fears to disregard.”
Thompson v. General Fin. Co., 205 Kan. 76, 468 P.2d 269,
280 (1970). A person must be held against her will, however,
because “if one agrees of one’s own free choice to surrender
freedom of motion, as by remaining in a room or
accompanying another voluntarily, to clear oneself of
suspicion or to accommodate the desires of the other, rather
than yielding to the constraint of a threat, then there is no
imprisonment.”  See Wright v. Montgomery Ward & Co.,
Inc., 814 F.Supp. 986, 989 (D.Kan.1993) aff’d 25 F.3d 1059
(10th Cir.1994), citing W. Page Keeton, et al., Prosser &
Keaton on the Law of Torts § 11, at 49 (5th ed.1984).
Wilson’s statement to Hampton—that she needed to calm
down or he would call the Overland Park Police— does not
constitute false imprisonment. No liability attaches for future
threats, such as calling the authorities or having plaintiffs
arrested.  Such conduct amounts to moral pressure, but not
unlawful restraint. See id.

Alternatively, even assuming that Wilson restrained
plaintiffs’ liberty under this standard, the Court finds

* The Court notes that although the coupons were a benefit of purchase,
Cooper did not make a purchase. Accordingly, the Court doubts whether
she has an actionable claim under Section 1981,
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that defendant is entitled to summary Judgment under the
statutory merchants’ defense, K.S.A. §21-3424, which
provides as follows:

Any merchant, or a merchant’s agent or employee, who
has probable cause to believe that a person has actual
possession of and has wrongfully taken, or is about to
wrongfully take merchandise from a mercantile estab-
lishment, may detain such person on the premises or in
the immediate vicinity thereof, in a reasonable manner
and for a reasonable period of time for the purpose of
investigating the circumstances of such possession.
Such reasonable detention shall not constitute an arrest
nor criminal restraint.

K.S.A. § 21-3424(c). This provision extends to civil actions
for false imprisonment. Alvarado v. City of Dodge City, 238
Kan. 48, 708 P.2d 174, 185 (1985); Codner v. Toone, 224
Kan. 531, 581 P.2d 387, 389 (1978).

Probable cause exists if the facts and circumstances within
the arresting officer’s knowledge and of which he has
reasonably trustworthy information are sufficient in them-
selves to warrant a person of reasonable caution to believe
that an offense has been or is being committed. Alvarado, 708
P.2d at 185. Plaintiffs argue that summary judgment on the
merchants’ defense statute s inappropriate because the
existence of probable cause is a jury question. Plaintiffs are
correct if the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to
plaintiffs, would permit the Jury to reasonably find for
plaintiffs on this issue. In this case, however, plaintiffs fail to
identify material questions of fact which prevent summary
Judgment on the issue of probable cause.’

* Indeed, plaintiffs admit that “the parties’ evidence of what happened,
the material facts, may not vary substantially . . . ” See plaintiffs’
Memorandum In Opposition To Defendant's Motion For Summary
Judgment (Doc. # 73) filed October 14, 1997, at p. 39.
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While plaintifts argue that a jury issue exists as to Wilson’s
credibility, they cite no evidence which seriously calls into
question either Wilson’s credibility or that of Fitzgerel—who
independently observed Cooper in the fitting room. In the
circumstances, plaintiffs’ evidence, taken together, 1s
insufficient to establish a reasonable inference that Wilson’s
testimony is unworthy of belief. See Cone, 14 F.3d at 530
(evidence insufficient to raise doubts about defendant’s
motivation). Cooper had reached the nexus where the store
met the mall; Wilson had observed plaintiff carrying a dark
cloth-like item in her hand and looking around “as if to see if
someone was watching her;” and Fitzgerel observed Cooper
pushing a rolled-up cloth item into her jacket while in the
fitting room. Accordingly, the Court finds that no material
questions of fact preclude the entry of summary judgment on
the basis of the merchants’ defense statute. Defendant’s
motion for summary judgment on plaintiffs’ false
imprisonment claim is sustained.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion
For Summary Judgment (Doc. # 67) filed September 24,
1997, should be and hereby is sustained. The motion does
not address plaintiffs’ claim that defendant interfered with
their ability to redeem the perfume samples, however, and

plaintiffs may proceed on their claim of race discrimination
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 in this limited regard.

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Demetria
Cooper on or before December 1, 1997, show cause in
writing why her claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 should not be
dismissed for legal insufficiency. On or before December 3,
1997, defendant shall file any response.
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APPENDIX D
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
TENTH CIRCUIT
[Filed Sep 4, 2001]

No. 98-3261
(D.C. No. 97-CV-2182-KHV)

PAULA DARLENE HAMPTON,
Plaintiff-Appellee,
DEMETRIA COOPER,
Plaintiff,
V.

DILLARD DEPARTMENT STORES, INC.,
Defendant-Appellant.

LaWYERS’ COMMITTEE FOR
CiviL RIGHTS UNDER LA w,
Amicus Curiae.

ORDER

Before HENRY, ANDERSON, and LUCERO, Circuit Judges.

The appellant’s petition for rehearing is denied by the panel
that rendered the decision. Judge Anderson would grant
panel rehearing.

The suggestion for rehearing en banc was transmitted to all
of the judges of the court who are in regular active service as
required by Fed. R. App. P. 35. A poll was requested and a
majority of the active judges voted to deny rehearing en banc.
Chief Judge Tacha and Judges Kelly and Brorby would grant
rehearing en banc.
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Entered for the Court
PATRICK FISHER, Clerk of Court

by: /s/ {Illegibie]
Deputy Clerk




